STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JAN 31 2019

SC Court of Appeals
RESPONDENT,

THE STATE,

V.

MIMI JOE MARSHALL,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002329

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEPHEN F. KRZYSTON
Assistant Public Defender

Richland County Public Defender
1701 Main Street
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 765-2592

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in refusing to charge the jury on the law of involuntary manslaughter where there was evidence tending to mitigate the offense of murder?
- II. Whether the trial court erred in admitting the testimony of Timothy Lee, a crime scene investigator, on crucial blood evidence where he was not qualified as an expert in blood spatter evidence or crime scene reconstruction, and where the evidence failed to satisfy three of the four factors proffered in *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), and was thus not reliable?
- III. Whether the trial court erred in admitting the testimony of Stan Richards, an expert in blood spatter, on crucial blood evidence where the evidence did not satisfy three of the four factors proffered in *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999), and where the evidence was unreliable.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the morning of Saturday, August 16, 2015, family members discovered Doris Marshall deceased from a wound to the head in the trailer she shared with her husband, the Appellant. R. 83, l. 25; R. 84, ll. 1-3. Appellant's nephew, Robert Marshall, Jr., had touched off a search by calling the police and other family members after Appellant had shown up, "heartbroken," to the home which Robert Marshall, Jr. shared with his father, Appellant's brother, in the wee hours of the morning. R. 115, ll. 16-17. There Appellant confessed that he had "messed up," and indicated that he had shot and killed the decedent. R. 116, ll. 5-9. After family members forced entry into Appellant and decedent's home, police responded and began developing their investigation. R. 388, ll. 3-5; R. 388, ll. 17-19. As the morning hours waned, police developed information that Appellant was at a local hangout called "Tony's Lounge." R. 307, l. 9 – R. 308, l. 24. After confirming his location, police detained Appellant based on the information discovered at the scene and provided by Robert Marshall, Jr. earlier in the day, as well as accounts from family members at the trailer. R. 519, ll. 21-22.

After his detention and transportation to the Richland County Sheriff's Office on August 16, 2015, Appellant gave a statement to Investigator Joe Clarke, of the Richland County Sheriff's Department, in which he confessed to the unintentional killing of his longtime wife. State's Exhibit No. 3. Specifically, Clarke testified that Appellant claimed he had his gun in the front room of the trailer because the trailer park was an unstable place, that the decedent had "come at him," that the decedent grabbed the gun, and "it went up and it went off." R. 540, ll. 15-17. Finding Appellant's claims unpersuasive, RCSD served Appellant with arrest warrants and he was taken to the Richland County Detention Center. R. 553, ll. 9-12.

Thereafter, on December 15, 2015, a Richland County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder and felon in possession of a firearm. R.754. Appellant pled guilty to the weapons offense, and on October 30, 2017, was tried before the Honorable Robert Hood and a jury for murder. R. 1. April Sampson, Sandra Moser, and Samuel McGlothin represented the State. R. 1. Alicia Goode, Stephen Krzyston, and Lucas Hawks represented the Appellant. R. 1.

During trial, the State's theory centered around what it contended was the factual impossibility of Appellant's claims. In support of that contention the State called two police witnesses that testified to "blood spatter evidence," Timothy Lee and Stan Richards. The assistant solicitors repeatedly elicited testimony and argued that Appellant's contentions to police contradicted what blood spatter evidence showed to be true. R. 86, l. 20 – R. 88, l. 5; R. 89, ll. 5-14; R. 541, ll. 5-10; R. 642, l. 23 - R. 643, l. 5; R. 651, l. 17; R. 652, ll. 2-7; R. 652, ll. 8-9; R. 652, ll. 11-13. By contrast, defense counsel argued that the physical evidence was indicative of an unintentional shooting, that the State was wrong in its analysis of the physical evidence, and that there was no evidence of malice aforethought. R. 94, ll. 5-12; R. 667, l. 17 – R. 669, l. 10; R. 672, ll. 15-19; R. 673, l. 24 – R. 674, l. 10. Subsequent to trial, the jury convicted Appellant of murder. R. 702, l. 23 – R. 705, l. 14. Judge Hood sentenced Appellant to life without the possibility of parole for the murder and a concurrent five-year term on the weapon charge. R. 714, ll. 9-15. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. See e.g., State v. Nance, 393 S.C. 289, 712 S.E.2d 446 (2011); State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 625 S.E.2d 215 (2006). Thus, the trial court's factual findings are binding on the appellate court unless unsupported by the evidence, clearly erroneous, or controlled by an error of law. See e.g., State v. Winkler, 388 S.C. 574, 698 S.E.2d 596 (2010); State v. Quattlebaum, 338 S.C. 441, 527 S.E.2d 105 (2000); State v. Williams, 326 S.C. 130, 485 S.E.2d 99 (1997). On appeal, the reviewing court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. State v. Parker, 391 S.C. 606, 707 S.E.2d 799 (2011).

I. The trial court erred in refusing to charge the jury on the law of involuntary manslaughter when there was evidence in the record to support the charge.

On August 16, 2015, after his arrest, Appellant gave a statement to investigator Joe Clarke of the Richland County Sheriff's Department. When called during the third day of trial, Joe Clarke testified to the substance of Appellant's statement, and the assistant solicitor moved, without objection, to admit the Appellant's statement to police. R. 521, ll. 20-21; State's Exhibit No. 3. Specifically, Clarke testified that Appellant claimed he had his gun in the front room of the trailer because the trailer park was an unstable place, that the decedent had "come at him," that the decedent grabbed the gun, and "it went up and it went off." R. 540, ll. 15-17.

During the charging conference, the trial court incorrectly noted that Appellant's primary hurdle in obtaining an involuntary manslaughter charge was the Supreme Court's decision in State v. Reese, 370 S.C. 1, 633 S.E.2d 898 (2006). Specifically, the trial court argued, as in Reese, that the felonious act of "pointing and presenting," which the trial court had inferred from the testimony at large in this matter, precluded it from instructing on the law of involuntary manslaughter. R. 626, ll. 6-10; R. 626, ll. 22-25; R. 627, ll. 5-8.

Defense counsel Hawks argued that Appellant's statement to Joe Clarke overcame the trial court's concerns and that Appellant's conduct did not bar a charge on involuntary manslaughter. R. 627, ll. 9-11. The trial court ruled it would not charge the jury on the law of involuntary manslaughter. R. 627, ll. 12-16. Defense counsel continued to argue for the charge by citing to State v. Burriess, 334 S.C. 256, 513 S.E.2d 104 (1999), and by drawing the trial court's attention to the Appellant's statement. R. 628, ll. 13-14; R. 628, ll. 24-25. In continuing to refuse the charge incorrectly, the trial court clarified its ruling by asserting that defense counsel misunderstood the

case law, and by incorrectly asserting that there was no evidence on the record that Appellant had armed himself in self-defense. R. 628, ll. 15-16; R. 628, ll. 21-23.

Argument

The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. State v. Crosby, 355 S.C. 47, 51, 584 S.E.2d 110, 112 (2003) (internal citations omitted). A trial court commits reversible error where it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. Brayboy, 387 S.C. 174, 180, 691 S.E.2d 482, 485 (Ct. App. 2010) (internal citations omitted). Involuntary manslaughter is defined as either (1) the killing of another without malice and unintentionally, but while one is engaged in the commission of some unlawful act not amounting to a felony and not naturally tending to cause the death or great bodily harm, or (2) the killing of another without malice and unintentionally, but while one is acting lawfully with reckless disregard of the safety of others. Burris, 513 S.E.2d at 109. Trial courts may refuse to charge a jury on the offense of involuntary manslaughter only where it very clearly appears that there is **no evidence whatsoever** tending to reduce the crime from murder to manslaughter. See Burris, 513 S.E.2d at 109 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

The court in Burris found that a person can be acting lawfully, even if he is in unlawful possession of a weapon if he was entitled to arm himself in self-defense at the time of the shooting. Id. The Burris court went on to find that where the circumstances of a case show a defendant was entitled to arm himself in self-defense when the gun went off, he will be entitled to a charge of involuntary manslaughter. See Burris, 513 S.E.2d at 109. Further, the court found that the negligent handling of a loaded gun will also support a finding of involuntary manslaughter. Id.

Our Supreme Court addressed an analogous case in the matter of State v. Crosby, 355 S.C. 47, 584 S.E.2d 110 (2003). In that case, the appellant-petitioner was convicted of voluntary

manslaughter in a shooting death. Crosby, 584 S.E.2d at 111. Appellant in Crosby testified that he was attempting to break up a fight when the decedent, who was the boyfriend of one of the fight's participants, became enraged at appellant for touching the participant and charged at the appellant. Id. Thereafter, appellant in Crosby testified that he saw the decedent charging him with his hand behind his back, and in response, he went in his pocket, pulled out his gun, closed his eyes, and pulled the trigger without knowing he had pulled the trigger. Id. Specifically, appellant in Crosby testified "I closed my eyes and pulled the trigger. I didn't even know I had pulled the trigger. I was scared. I seen my life in danger. I did not know how to react." Id.

On appeal, this Court affirmed the conviction based on the appellant's testimony that he intentionally pulled out his gun, closed his eyes, and "pulled the trigger." Crosby 584 S.E.2d at 112 citing State v. Crosby, 348 S.C. 387, 395, 559 S.E.2d 352, 357 (Ct. App. 2001). However, our Supreme Court overturned that decision finding that this Court had impermissibly focused on some but not all of the petitioner in Crosby's testimony. Crosby, 584 S.E.2d at 112. Specifically, the Supreme Court found there was "ample evidence" from which the jury could have found that petitioner did not intentionally discharge the weapon. Id.

In the instant case, there is ample evidence in the record from which the jury could have concluded that Appellant killed decedent while acting lawfully in self-defense, but with reckless disregard for the safety of decedent when the gun was unintentionally fired. Specifically, Joe Clarke testified that Appellant told him he kept the shotgun in the house because the trailer park was unstable. R. 540, ll. 15-17. Clarke testified that when he pressed Appellant about becoming armed, Appellant claimed he had armed himself to check out around the trailer, that the decedent had been coming in the door at the same time, that the two of them began "talking at each other," that the decedent had an attitude, that she had come at him, that she grabbed the gun and as she

did it went up, and it went off, instantly killing her. R. 540, ll. 15-17; R. 542, l. 22 – R. 543, l. 3; State's Exhibit No. 3.

Clarke further testified that Appellant never admitted to intentionally pointing the gun at the decedent, nor did he ever admit to intentionally pulling the trigger. R. 543, l. 21. Specifically, Clarke testified that Appellant claimed that the decedent grabbed the gun, and “it went up and it went off.” R. 540, ll. 15-17. Further evidence is in the record which establishes that the gun was in such an unsafe condition that it could have discharged without the trigger being pulled. R. 593, l. 17 – R. 594, l. 7. Lastly, additional evidence is in the record to indicate that Appellant was “heartbroken” and that he had claimed to family members that he had “messed up.” R. 115, ll. 16-17; R. 116, ll. 5-9.

The trial court's reliance on State v. Reese, 370 S.C. 1, 633 S.E.2d 898 (2006), is misplaced. In Reese, the evidence showed that appellant armed himself to commit suicide. Reese, 633 S.E.2d at 900. The appellant in Reese claimed that he was interchangeably waiving the gun back and forth, between himself and decedent, as the decedent approached him to de-escalate his tendency towards suicide. Id. Thus, the facts in Reese differ because appellant in Reese did not arm himself in self-defense, and thus was committing an unlawful act when he intentionally pointed or presented the weapon at the decedent in that case. However, in the instant case like in Burriss and Crosby, evidence crucially exists from which the jury could have found that Appellant lawfully armed himself in self-defense and that the shooting was unintentional. Thus, the trial court erred by denying defense counsel's request for an involuntary manslaughter charge and instead should have granted defense counsel's request. Based on the trial court's erroneous refusal to charge the jury on the law of involuntary manslaughter, this Court should reverse Appellant's conviction for murder, and remand the case for a new trial.

II. The trial court erred in admitting the testimony of Timothy Lee, an expert in crime scene investigation, on crucial blood spatter evidence because he was not qualified as an expert in blood spatter evidence or crime scene reconstruction, and because the evidence failed to satisfy three of the four factors proffered in *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2 508 (1999), and was thus not reliable.

Motion and Proffer

As the State prepared to call crime scene investigator Timothy Lee, Defense counsel Krzyston challenged the witness and argued that the State had not met the reliability requirements proffered by White, Jones, and Rule 702, SCRE. R. 159, ll. 7-17. The solicitor responded by noting her intent to offer Lee as an expert in “crime scene processing,” and that under “Johns,” because of the testimony’s scientific nature, she did not have to conduct an *in camera* hearing to establish the witness’s qualification and reliability. R. 159, ll.18-21. Defense counsel Krzyston argued that regardless of the scientific nature of the testimony, the State had the burden of fulfilling the reliability requirements proffered by Jones R. 160, ll. 14-17.

During the State’s *in camera voir dire* it was established that Lee was certified through the International Association for Identification (IAI) for crime scene investigation, but was not certified as a crime scene analyst (CCSA). R. 163, l. 22 - R. 164, l. 3. Further, it was established that Lee had previously been admitted as an expert in crime scene processing only eight times in his ten-year tour with the Crime Scene Unit. R. 164, ll. 4-8. There was no inquiry regarding any of the Jones factors as illustrated in Council and Ford.

During Appellant’s *voir dire*, Lee asserted that he could testify to “blood analysis.” R. 168, ll. 23-24; R. 168, l. 25 – R. 170, l. 2. Defense counsel specifically asked, “And are you going to

offer your opinion on what the blood spatter shows?" R. 169, ll. 3-4. Lee testified that he could if queried on the subject of blood spatter. R. 169, l. 5; R. 169, l. 7.

Defense counsel then established that Lee did not do any "tests" when "doing the blood spatter," and that he did not photograph the blood in question with scale, a reference to known measurement standards placed within the focus of the evidentiary photograph. R. 169, l. 21 - R. 169, l. 25. Further, defense counsel established that Lee did not follow department blood spatter protocols in failing to conduct road-mapping or take measurements of the room in question. R. 170, l. 1 - R. 170, l. 3.

Turning his attention to the trial court, defense counsel argued that the State could not fulfill the necessary reliability requirements under "Jones." R. 170, ll. 17-21. The solicitor argued that they were not offering Lee as an expert in "blood spatter pattern [or] bloodstain pattern," and were only offering him as an expert in the area of crime scene processing. R. 171, ll. 3-14. Defense counsel did not object to Lee's qualification as an expert in crime scene processing. R. 172, ll. 11-15. Thereafter, the trial court found him qualified only as an expert in crime scene processing. R. 178, ll. 9-25.

Testimony Before the Jury

On direct examination, the State eventually began to address the positioning of the decedent's body. R. 194, ll. 5-11. The State, begging Lee's opinion asked, "Why is this photo important to you?" R. 194, ll. 11-15. Lee testified, "...it shows the limited amount of blood staining over here. And when you look over here, you see more staining that's heavier, so that gives us an indication that a blood letting occurred within -" R. 194, ll. 11-15.

Objection and Argument

After objection, defense counsel argued that Lee had moved “significantly beyond the scope” of his expertise and had not been qualified under Rule 702, SCRE and Jones. R. 194, l. 23 - R. 195, l. 4. The State responded, arguing that the decedent’s location “within the room” was important to the investigation, as were why “certain things” were collected. R. 195, ll. 5-8. Without addressing the merits of defense counsel’s argument, the solicitor continued that Lee was “merely talking about **how he knew where she was,**” and was going to go into “**if there was any evidence that she had been moved.**” R. 195, ll. 8-11. Defense counsel argued that such testimony was “squarely within the realm” of blood spatter analysis, that Lee’s qualification did not entitle him to opine on blood spatter, and that no reliability inquiry under Rule 702, SCRE and Jones had taken place. R. 195, ll. 12-15. Further, defense counsel argued that Lee had not complied with his department’s protocols or with commonly accepted practices within the field. R. 198, ll. 15-24.

Court’s Ruling

The trial judge ultimately ruled Lee could give his opinion concerning the position of the decedent’s body. Specifically, the trial court ruled that Lee was certified¹, and that blood spatter analysis was “completely and totally within his expertise.” R. 202, ll. 21-23. After the judge announced his ruling, Appellant renewed his objection.

Testimony Continued

In front of the jury, the court notably failed to expand the scope of Lee’s expertise from crime scene investigation to crime scene reconstruction. R. 205, ll. 1-5. When the State asked Lee about an unidentified photograph, Lee testified that the photo gave him “an indication of where an

¹ The trial court was incorrect regarding the matter of Lee’s certification. Lee testified that he was a certified crime scene investigator, but had not completed the criteria for certification as a crime scene analyst. R. 163, l. 22 - R. 164, l. 3.

injury may have occurred,” and then cited the presence and location of blood as his basis for so determining. R. 205, ll. 14-17. The solicitor continued to elicit testimony on the subject of the decedent’s positioning. R. 207, l. 4; R. 207, ll. 5-11; R. 207, ll. 15-17; R. 207, l. 20 - R. 208, l. 1; R. 208, ll. 3-6; R. 210, ll. 3-5.

Cross-Examination

On cross-examination, defense counsel established that no measurements were taken at the crime scene, that the photographs taken by Lee “might have been” over or underexposed, and that over or underexposure could lead to inaccurate depiction of probative evidence. R. 223, ll. 12-13; R. 228, ll. 23-24. Lee also admitted he had not complied with the technical requirements for the prescribed photographic documentation process, and that no stringing, one of two available empirical methodologies, had been done to determine an area of convergence, a reference to the area in which a blood-letting originated. R. 235, ll. 9-22. Further, R. 238, ll. 9-13. Def. Exhibit 12.

The State’s Closing Argument

In closing statements, the solicitor argued that the Appellant’s statement to police was false based on the analysis of blood spatter evidence presented, and that as the decedent entered the trailer she “sat down to relax, [and] didn’t even have time to untie her shoes,” when the Defendant sprung into “deadly action.” R. 652, l. 11-13; R. 643, ll. 6-22. Further, the solicitor highlighted the testimony of Lee and Stan Richards; a crime scene analyst discussed *infra*. R. 650, ll. 23-24. Specifically, she claimed that Lee and Richards had discussed how “dynamic” the scene was, how there was a bloodletting of “horrific proportions,” and “that it was so clear where everything happened [Lee and Richards] didn’t need to do anything.” R. 651, ll. 12-14; R. 651, ll. 14-15. The solicitor argued that Lee and Richards “had told [the jury] about all the stains,” and continued that

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