ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Richland County
Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MIMI JOE MARSHALL,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2017-002329.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General**

**MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**CAROLINE SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General**

**Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211
(803) 734-6305**

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
FEB 04 2019
SC Court of Appeals

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

and deeming that field unreliable where there were no known standards appropriate for comparison).

Appellant was provided an opportunity to cross-examine Richards regarding reported weaknesses in the protocols followed and the analysis conducted in this case. (R. p. 517, line 10 – p. 530, line 24; R. p. 533, lines 5-8). The jury was instructed to give any expert testimony only the weight it saw fit. (E.g. R. p. 484, line 21 – p. 485, line 3). Otherwise, Richards' proffer provided ample indicia that the practice of blood stain pattern analysis is a reliable and technical area of study upon which he was personally qualified to opine at trial, and the court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Richards to present his educated opinion before the jury.

III. Because Investigator Stan Richards was duly qualified to testify as an expert in blood stain pattern analysis, and because self-defense was not at issue, harmless error controls any error in the admission of the scope of Investigator Timothy Lee's Testimony.

Relying upon *State v. Ellis*, 345 S.C. 175, 547 S.E.2d 480 (2001), Appellant argues that Lee impermissibly exceeded the bounds of his area of expertise when he testified that there was blood associated with the location of the victim's body on the sofa. *See also State v. Andrews*, 424 S.C. 304, 318, 818 S.E.2d 227, 235 (2018). An expert in crime scene processing may testify about items and substances observed, recorded, and recovered from the scene. *State v. Ellis*, *supra* at 177, 547 S.E.2d at 491. Appellant categorizes Lee's expert testimony as impermissibly reaching to that of either crime scene reconstruction or blood spatter interpretation. (Br. of App. at 16).

- A. In the regards to the scope of Investigator Timothy Lee's testimony, he was permitted to testify about his own crime scene observations regardless of any expert qualification, and was permitted to offer his opinion insofar as it informed his documentation of the evidence at the scene.

Before the jury, Lee described the steps he took upon responding to the scene and beginning to photograph it, as well as what protocols dictated his efforts. (R. p. 205, line 12 – p. 209, line 25). It was clear from the outset of his testimony that he arrived at the scene and began to process it *while the victim was still on the scene*: “I observed on the couch to my right a female victim that was on the couch. She had sustained a large trauma to the side of her head. I began photographing inside of the property.” (R. p. 208, lines 1-10). Lee continued photographing after the body had been removed. (R. p. 213, lines 7-18).

Lee testified that he photographed blood stains at the incident location to record “that something had happened [t]here.” (R. p. 210, lines 1-18). He testified that his role was to

document the bloodletting—which was essential, highly visible evidence at this particular crime scene. (R. p. 210, line 15 – p. 217, line 21; State’s Exhibits 15 through 39). He “wanted to show that the scene had a lot of stains” (R. p. 215, lines 8-16) He also photographed the location of the victim and shotgun pellets and wadding in her vicinity. (R. p. 213, lines 4-23; R. p. 218, lines 3-12).

Lee was addressing the importance of a photo he took of the victim on the couch, explaining that the photograph showed limited blood staining on one side of the sofa versus the other, and that it gave law enforcement “an indication that a bloodletting occurred within —” when Appellant objected. (R. p. 220, lines 6-16). Appellant argued this testimony fell outside Lee’s scope of expertise as a crime scene processor because it opined “where a bloodletting event occurred.” (R. p. 220, line 24 – p. 221, line 4). Appellant expounded that there had been no *in camera* examination about Lee’s methodology to determine the reliability of his collection practices. (R. p. 221, lines 12-15).

Next, *in camera*, and in response to the trial court, Lee explained:

What was showing with this photograph was the dynamic explosion of the blood from the body to the left and how the edge of the couch doesn’t have that much on it. There might be a little bit. So that gives us, as a crime scene investigator, that this is where the majority of the – how do I want to put it, the blast occurred, and that gives me an idea to look for evidence within this area. So we know that there’s shot pellets: I’ve already seen a few pellets there on the couch, I can look for a few more things like that. When you have projectiles – with shotguns, there’s multiple pellets compared to just one projective with an individual bullet. That gives me an indication of I need to look further in this area to see if I can find this stuff.

(R. p. 222, line 17 – p. 223, line 7).

The court followed up asking Lee: “How does your training and your course work help you process through what you just told me?” (R. p. 223, lines 8-12). Lee answered:

We've had blood stain analysis, we've had reconstruction courses and they help us to analyze the area the look for evidence. So my training that I've received through the years, through my experience on crime scenes, whether it's a suicide scene, and accidental scene or, you know, a robbery where we have shootings impacts projectiles, things like that give us an area to start our looking for other evidence. So based on my experience, based on my training, that gives me a location to begin.

(R. p. 223, lines 16-24).

Lee went on to opine *in camera* that the victim was shot on the sofa, based upon:

the way the stains were radiating out from that location, where the shot wadding was located, where the skull and the brains are located, and just based on the spatter area, she couldn't have been standing. She couldn't have been walking around. The void behind the body when we moved the body out, if she was standing, there would surely be blood back there as well and there wasn't. There was a voided area. . . .

We've gone through testing. We've had actual instructi[on] come in [during training], and they show us if you have a puddle of blood right here and you have a post here and a post here and you hit the blood with a hammer and the blood sprays out like this and then you remove those posts, you're going to have a void. So there are things that we look for.

Along with the coroner, we can tell if the body has been moved around when we start to move the body because we can't move the body without the coroner's assistance. So when we did move the body and placed her on the floor, there was that voided area . . . on the back of the sofa.

(R. p. 226, line 3 – p. 227, line 4).

The court ruled Lee's testimony admissible, finding that his coursework certified him to speak about the location of the body as presented during his *in camera* testimony. (R. p. 228, lines 21-25). The court did not alter or re-specify Lee's expert qualifications beyond that as an expert in crime scene processing. (R. p. 231, lines 1-19).

In front of the jury and over Appellant's renewed objections, Lee's testimony continued: the photograph gave him "an indication of where any injury may have occurred." (R. p. 231, lines 5-16). "It shows [him] where an area where the injury let the most blood out. There was a

bloodletting right there. That is where I think that I need to concentrate my searching for to look for any additional evidence.” (R. p. 231, lines 20-24). He testified over Appellant’s continued objection that, based upon his training, varying concentrations of blood at the scene focused him on where to look for evidence to document. (R. p. 233, line 2 – p. 236, line 17).

Because Lee began to work the scene with the victim present and continued to photograph it after the body was removed by the Coroner’s Office, Lee’s testimony about the varying concentrations of bloodletting at the scene in relation to the victim’s body was not based upon any scientific analysis, but rather was derived from Lee’s own personal observations at the scene and was not an expert opinion. Rules 701 and 702, SCRE. Without objection, Lee testified in the same manner about the location of the body in relation to the shotgun wadding he photographed, as well as the shotgun pellets. (R. p. 213, line 8 – p. 214, line 9; R. p. 218, lines 13-24). He was not testifying about the protocols included in conducting a site-specific blood stain pattern analysis, but rather what about the crime scene—including the victim—tipped him off to look for and photograph other evidence in a certain area in the room. Blood is evidence of injury just as birdshot is evidence of the discharge of a shotgun. Identifying both are within the purview of a crime scene processor. To that end, Lee did not offer an opinion on what evidence meant but rather about the fact that he has been trained to hone in on and document evidence at a crime scene. Such testimony is distinguishable from rendering an opinion about where the victim was when she was shot. *State v. Ellis, supra; State v. Andrews; supra*. Here the crime scene processor saw the body in relation to the blood and had to decide, based on his training, what to document and where to look for evidence. His testimony was admissible for that purpose.

B. As to any remainder of Lee's testimony, harmless error controls the outcome due to its cumulative nature and absence of self-defense.

Even if wrongly admitted by the trial judge, an investigator's expert opinion may constitute harmless error. *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. at 389-90, 728 S.E.2d at 475. (harmless error applied to admission of expert testimony "before vetting it for its reliability"). "Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Mitchell*, 378 S.C. 305, 316, 662 S.E.2d 493, 499 (2008)). The relevant inquiry does not focus on whether the State proved its case beyond a reasonable doubt, "but whether beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict." *State v. Tapp*, 398 S.C. 376, 389-90, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012). "No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it 'could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.'" *State v. Mitchell, supra* (quoting *State v. Key*, 256 S.C. 90, 180 S.E.2d 888 (1971)).

Factors for consideration include "the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and of course the overall strength of the prosecutions' case." *Delaware v. Van Ardsall*, 475 U.S. 673, 684, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 1438 (1986).

First, any error in Investigator Stan Richard's qualification as an expert witness is harmless as blood stain pattern analysis is a nationally recognized field of expertise and as the record cited herein demonstrates that Richards was duly qualified to testify in that field regardless of the trial court's ruling upon his expert qualification. See *State v. Myers, supra* at 258, 391 S.E.2d at 555 n.1. ("Depriving the jury of expert testimony regarding

the bloodspatters clearly hampered its ability to evaluate the facts before it in this case.”); *compare*, 9 A.L.R.5th 369 (“Admissibility, in criminal prosecution, of expert opinion evidence as to ‘blood splatter’ interpretation”) (Originally published in 1993); *contra State v. Jones*, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001) (pre-*White* case finding witness should not have been admitted as expert on barefoot sole impressions and deeming that field unreliable where there were no known standards appropriate for comparison).

Second, harmless error applies when the testimony targeted as improperly admitted is merely cumulative to other properly admitted testimony. *State v. Page*, 378 S.C. 476, 484, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360-61 (Ct. App. 2008); *State v. McLeod*, 362 S.C. 73, 84-85, 606 S.E.2d 215, 221 (Ct. App. 2004). Here, any opinion given by Lee that exceeded his area of expertise as a crime scene processor was duplicative of that of Investigator Stan Richards, the duly qualified and properly admitted blood stain pattern analyst.⁵ (R. pp. 485, line 5 – p. 516, line 2). Harmless error is especially applicable here, where the two experts testified they worked a single crime scene in tandem. (R. p. 250, lines 2-20; R. p. 486, lines 13-18; R. p. 502, lines 20-25). Also, Lee’s testimony notably goes nowhere near as far as that of Investigator Richards.⁶ (*Cf.* R. p. 233, lines 9-25). Moreover, Lee’s testimony which Appellant identifies as being outside the

⁵ Respondent refers to the following testimony by Lee in regards to this harmless error argument: Without verbal indicators to identify which exhibit he was referring to and whether the victim was present in the photograph, Lee testified the victim was “here” and “there’s a lot of blood here,” and “she was injured in this area” where there was a lot of blood. (R. p. 233, lines 9-11). He testified that a “void” is an area where blood is missing and that such an area would cause him to “ask why” because no blood in an otherwise bloody scene indicates that something is missing. (R. p. 234, lines 3-14). He did not identify a “void” in any photo presented during direct examination. (R. p. 234, lines 15-18). He also testified that one photograph documented the “overall” scene, but that it showed less blood in one area than that next to the victim’s body, indicating that blood traveling across the room “can slow down.” (R. p. 236, lines 1-11).

⁶ Lee may have testified *in camera* that the decedent “couldn’t have been standing,” but offered no such opinion before the jury. (R. p. 226, lines 6-7; R. p. 233, lines 9-25).

scope of his expertise in crime scene processing is also cumulative to Lee's earlier testimony about processing the shotgun wadding found on the sofa at the crime scene. Lee testified that the location of the wadding on the sofa told him "that the shot occurred within the parameter of where the body was at." (R. p. 218, lines 13-21).

Third, Appellant was permitted to impeach the quality of Lee's investigation during voir dire, cross-examination, re-cross examination, and through the presentation of his own expert in blood spatter analysis. (R. p. 201, line 17 – p. 204, line 5; R. p. 243, line 15 – p. 267, line 24; R. p. 271, line 25 – p. 272, line 25; R. p. 617, lines 5-9; R. p. 621, lines 20-25; R. p. 625, lines 8-11). However, the photographic evidence introduced at trial fails, to the untrained eye, to corroborate in any way the course of events testified to by Appellant's blood spatter analyst and Appellant's statement to law enforcement. (State's Exhibits 15-29, 84-85, 95).

Finally, any error in this case is distinguishable from that found in the scope of opinion testimony by the crime scene processors at issue in *Ellis* and *Andrews* because, unlike in those cases, self-defense was not at issue. The Supreme Court found in both aforementioned cases that the crime scene processor's opinions on the position of the victim undermined those defendants' self-defense claims. *Ellis*, 345 S.C. at 178-79, 547 S.E.2d at 491; *Andrews*, 424 S.C. at 318, 818 S.E.2d at 235. But here, Appellant provided a statement that he placed the victim on the sofa after the gun went off. (R. p. 570, lines 1-3). This sofa is where the crime scene processor testified he located the coagulation of blood. (R. p. 232, line 7 – p. 233, line 11). In this way, Appellant's claim of accident is not so diametrically opposed to the crime scene processor's testimony as *Ellis* and *Andrews*' self-defense claims were to the opinions of the crime scene processor in their respective cases, and is an additional consideration regarding the application of harmless error.

Any error in the scope of Lee's testimony cannot be determined to have contributed to the verdict obtained due to its cumulative nature and the properly admitted photographs of the crime scene.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should affirm the Appellant's conviction for murder and possession of a firearm by a person convicted of a violent felony.